### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERROL AUSTIN ROLLMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-1871 1D02-3544

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
FLA. BAR NO. 197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

§958.04(2)(d), Fla. Stat.	8	



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERROL AUSTIN ROLLMAN,

:

Petitioner,

:

v. : CASE NO. SC03-1871

: 1D02-3544

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

Respondent. :

\_\_\_\_\_**:** 

### BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

#### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant before the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. A one volume record on appeal will be referred to as "I R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Attached hereto as appendix A is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as  $Rollman\ v.\ State$ , 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2254 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 26,

2003).

### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed below, petitioner was charged with armed robbery with a firearm (I R 5). On October 22, 2001, petitioner was found to be incompetent to stand trial and committed (I R 56-63). On January 18, 2002, the hospital informed the court that petitioner was competent to proceed (I R 64-72).

On June 12, 2002, the court found petitioner competent to proceed, and petitioner entered a plea to the charge, in exchange for a 10 year mandatory minimum maximum sentence he had negotiated directly with the judge, and to ask for youthful offender sentencing (I R 80-87; 143-52).

On August 14, 2002, petitioner appeared for sentencing, and asked for a youthful offender sentence (I R 155-61). The judge declined to do so and imposed a 10 year mandatory minimum sentence, with credit for 579 days served, followed by 10 years probation (I R 130-41; 162). Petitioner objected to the addition of probation to the sentence because it was not a part of the plea agreement, and moved to vacate the probation order, but the court denied the motion (I R 162-64).

On August 21, 2002, petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal (I R 120). The

Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was later designated to represent petitioner.

On direct appeal, a majority of the First District (Judges Benton and Browning) first noted three facts: that at no time had petitioner requested to withdraw his plea; that if petitioner violated his consecutive term of probation, he could receive a life sentence; and that the judge had not cited any factor which caused him to add the probationary term.

However, the majority relied on <u>Davis v. State</u>, 308 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1975), and held that petitioner was not entitled to specific performance of the 10 year plea agreement he had made with the judge, and was not entitled to have the consecutive 10 year probationary term vacated. Appendix at 2-3.

Judge Padovano concurred in the result on the theory that the 10 year maximum sentence offered by the judge was a "cap" and not a specific plea bargain which prohibited the addition of 10 years probation. Appendix at 4-5.

The lower tribunal certified the following question to this Court:

WHERE A TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES THE MOST SEVERE SENTENCE THAT WILL BE IMPOSED IN THE EVENT OF A PLEA, MAY THE TRIAL COURT THEREAFTER, ONCE THE PLEA HAS BEEN ACCEPTED, PRONOUNCE A MORE SEVERE SENTENCE WITHOUT ANY STATED REASON OR ANY REASON APPARENT FROM THE RECORD? IF SO, MUST THE TRIAL COURT AFFIRMATIVELY OFFER THE DEFENDANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA?

Appendix at 3.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of discretionary review, pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), and Art. V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

#### III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The majority opinion in this case held that where a defendant enters into an agreement directly with the judge for a specific state prison sentence, he has no right to specific performance of that agreement when the judge sua sponte adds a term of probation to the specific state prison sentence.

The standard of review is de novo, since this case involves only a question of law.

The majority opinion is incorrect. The law is clear that where a defendant enters into a plea agreement directly with the judge for a specific sentence, the defendant is entitled to the benefit of his bargain. The lower tribunal first noted three facts: that at no time had petitioner requested to withdraw his plea; that if petitioner violated his consecutive term of probation, he could receive a life sentence; and that the judge had not cited any factor which caused him to add the probationary term.

The courts have long recognized that specific performance is the proper remedy to enforce a plea agreement.

Yet the lower tribunal relied solely on this Court's 28 year old opinion in <u>Davis</u> <u>v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, which had not been cited by either party's brief, and held that petitioner was not entitled to specific performance of his plea agreement. <u>Davis</u> is not controlling authority, because the defendant there was arrested for a new crime between her plea and sentencing dates. Here, petitioner did nothing between his plea and sentencing dates to cause the judge to alter the plea agreement.

The two remedies for a violation of a plea agreement, first suggested in <u>Davis</u>, are not exclusive. These are offering the defendant the right to withdraw his or her plea, or asking the defendant is he or she wants to accept the altered sentence announced by the judge. Where the judge, at his own risk, makes a specific plea bargain with a defendant, and where a defendant does not desire to withdraw his plea, and where the judge does not give any justification for altering the plea agreement, the defendant is entitled to the benefit of his bargain.

Cases prior to and subsequent to <u>Davis</u> have recognized specific performance as one of the possible remedies for a violation of a plea agreement.

The judge clearly represented to petitioner at the plea that he would receive

between six and 10 years in state prison. The judge never mentioned his intent to impose a probationary term following the prison sentence. Petitioner relied on that representation in entering his plea. It was the judge who changed his position detrimental to petitioner when he added the probationary term.

The defendant cannot be asked to withdraw his plea or be asked to accept the newly-announced sentence. The only way to ensure that the defendant receives the benefit of his bargain is to require specific performance of the agreement he had made with the judge. Petitioner's bargain with the judge constituted a legally-binding contract.

In fact, this Court recognized in <u>Charatz v. State</u>, 577 So. 2d 1298 (Fla. 1991), subsequent to <u>Davis</u>, that specific performance is a proper remedy when the defendant acts in reliance on the plea agreement and suffers prejudice from that agreement. In fact, this Court recognized in <u>Hunt v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 1993), subsequent to <u>Davis</u>, that specific performance is a proper remedy when the defendant does not violate a provision in a plea agreement.

This Court must answer the first part of the certified question in the negative,

reverse the opinion of the lower tribunal, and vacate the 10 year probationary term imposed by the judge. There is no need to address the second part of the certified question.

#### IV ARGUMENT

MUST GRANT THE DEFENDANT SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

OF THE PLEA AGREEMENT.

WHERE A TRIAL COURT ENTERS INTO DIRECT PLEA NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE DEFENDANT, AND ANNOUNCES
THE MOST SEVERE SENTENCE THAT WILL BE IMPOSED
IN THE EVENT OF A PLEA, THE TRIAL COURT, ONCE
THE PLEA HAS BEEN ACCEPTED, MAY NOT PRONOUNCE A
MORE SEVERE SENTENCE WITHOUT ANY STATED REASON
OR ANY REASON APPARENT FROM THE RECORD, AND

Petitioner entered into a plea agreement directly with the judge for a maximum sentence of 10 years mandatory minimum under §775.087(2)(a)1., Fla. Stat., while hoping for a six year youthful offender sentence under §958.04(2)(d), Fla. Stat.<sup>1</sup> The judge never advised petitioner that he was considering adding a term of probation to the plea agreement. The judge subsequently imposed the 10 year sentence, but also added a term of 10 years probation.

This was reversible error. Petitioner was entitled to the benefit of his bargain. The standard of review is de novo, since this is purely a question of law.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm l}$ The imposition of a youthful offender sentence would remove the need for a 10 year mandatory. See, e.g., Drury v. State, 829 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

This agreement was made <u>in direct negotiations with the judge</u>, notwithstanding the position of the prosecutor:

MR. GEISSEL: Your Honor, if we could before we go forward. Also, I just want the record to reflect that this is a plea straight up. There's no agreement wit the state on this particular plea as far as for any cap or anything else. I don't know if the plea agreement reflects that, but that is what had come out of out discussion at the bench.

THE COURT: The court has capped it at ten.

MR. GEISSEL: Right, the court indicated it would cap it at the ten year minimum mandatory under the ten-twenty life statute. However, there's no agreement with the state.

\* \*

THE COURT: Nobody is going to hurt you, Mr. Rollman. I need to ask you some more questions. Look over here just a minute, now. Do you understand that by entering this plea the most you can get is ten years in the Department of Corrections and that you would get credit toward that for any time you've already done in the hospital and in the jail?

THE DEFENDANT. Yes, sir.

\* \* \*

THE COURT: My purpose is to find out if you know what you are doing and if your plea this morning is voluntary and if you

### understand the most you can get is ten years.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: You're likely to get between six and ten, probably closer to the ten. But your lawyer is going to argue for six and the state is going to argue for ten.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: All right, under the circumstances I'm going to find the plea to be freely and voluntarily entered this morning and accept it.

(I R 146; 148-49; 151-52; emphasis added).

At no time did the judge mention the possibility that a term of probation might be imposed to run consecutively to the 10 year prison sentence. In fact, the judge affirmatively led petitioner to believe that he was only going to receive a prison sentence between six years as a youthful offender or 10 years, with no probation to follow.

When the judge added a term of 10 years probation to the plea agreement he had made with petitioner, petitioner objected to this alteration of the plea agreement and moved to vacate the probationary term. The judge ignored the objection and

denied this motion without comment:

MR. WEAVER: Your Honor, we're back on the record on Errol Rollman's case. I just wanted to put on the record our bench conference. I approached and explained to the court that the plea had been for an adjudication of guilt and a cap of ten years DOC and that the plea was accepted by the court about two months ago.

I'm arguing to the court that the ten years probation, restitution and court costs goes beyond the cap the court had already set for the sentence. For the sake of preserving the record, I believe that goes beyond what was contemplated. I'd like to make that apart of the record.

THE COURT: The record will be so noted.

\* \*

MR. WEAVER, Just for the record, I make a motion to vacate the probationary part of the sentence and reduce the restitution to a civil judgment.

THE COURT: That motion is denied.

(I R 163-64).

Thus, the issue is fully preserved.

It is well-settled that a defendant is entitled to the benefit of his bargain when he strikes a plea agreement. After all, petitioner's bargain with the judge

constituted a legally-binding contract.

The right to make a contract is guaranteed by our fundamental law. Chiles v. United Faculty of Florida, et al., 615 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1993) It is expressly guaranteed by Art. I, §10, Fla. Const. and Art. I, §10, Cl. 1, U.S. Const. Plea agreements are contracts governed by contract law. As this Court stated in Brown v. State, 367 So. 2d 616, 622 (Fla. 1979), quoting Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 752 (1970): "Bargained guilty pleas, then, are in large part similar to a contract between society and an accused, entered into on the basis of perceived 'mutuality of advantage.'"

In the instant case, the contract provided that the judge would sentence petitioner to no less than six and no more than 10 years in state prison. Petitioner entered a change of plea in reliance upon the express terms of the plea agreement offered directly by the judge. Most notably, petitioner gave up his constitutional right to a trial by jury in reliance upon the express terms of the plea agreement offered directly by the judge. See also State v. Frazier, 697 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997) (principles of contract law are applicable to plea

agreements); and <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 722 So. 2d 905 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1998) (a plea agreement is governed by the rules of contracts).

When a plea rests in any significant part upon a promise or agreement of the prosecutor or the judge, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled. When an agreement with a defendant has not been fulfilled, the defendant is entitled to specific performance of the unfilled performance or to withdrawal of the plea:

This phase of the process of criminal justice [the plea proceeding], and the adjudicative element inherent in accepting a plea of guilty, must be attended by safeguards to insure the defendant what is reasonably due in the circumstances. Those circumstances will vary, but a constant factor is that when a plea rests in any significant degree on a promise or agreement of the prosecutor, so that it can be said to be part of the inducement or consideration, such promise must be fulfilled.

<u>Santobello v. New York</u>, 404 U.S. 257, 262 (1971).

Justice Douglas specially concurred and made the following observations:

Where the "plea bargain" is not kept by the prosecutor [or the judge], the sentence must be vacated and the state court will decide in light of the circumstances of each case whether due process requires (a) that there be specific performance of the plea bargain or (b) that the defendant be given the option to go

to trial on the original charges. One alternative may do justice in one case, and the other in a different case. In choosing a remedy, however, a court ought to accord a defendant's preference considerable, if not controlling, weight inasmuch as the fundamental rights flouted by a prosecutor's breach of a plea bargain are those of the defendant, not of the State.

Id., 404 U.S. at 267; bold emphasis added.

In the instant case, enforcement of the plea agreement and sentence is the proper remedy, especially where petitioner does not desire to withdraw his plea.

The courts have long recognized that specific performance is the proper remedy to enforce a plea agreement. In <u>State v. Davis</u>, 188 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA), cert. den. 194 So. 2d 621 (1966), the defendant, charged with first degree murder, entered into an agreement with the state that if he passed a polygraph test, the charge would be dismissed. But if he did not pass the polygraph test, he could nevertheless enter a plea to the lesser offense of manslaughter. Although there was evidence that he had not passed the test, the judge dismissed the charge and the state appealed.

The court affirmed because the defendant had acted in reliance on a pledge of public faith:

Defendant had agreed to plead guilty to manslaughter if the test was not in his favor, but the state had agreed to dismiss the case if the results indicated defendant was telling the truth. This was a pledge of public faith — a promise made by state officials — and one that should not be lightly disregarded. As Judge Goldmann stated in his dissenting opinion in *State v*. Ashby, 81 N.J.Super. 350, 195 A.2d 635 (1963) (which case was reversed by the New Jersey Supreme Court in *State v*. Ashby, 43 N.J. 273, 204 A.2d 1 (1964)):

'In this case the prosecutor \*\*\* promised defendant that the indictments pending against him would be dismissed. The wisdom of the agreement aside, that promise constituted a pledge of the public faith which should not have been repudiated. The morals of the market place are a poor guide for the sovereign's actions.' 195 A.2d at 646.

Id. at 27; bold emphasis added. The same is true here. It was the <u>judge</u> who promised to impose a sentence between six and 10 years in prison if petitioner were to enter a plea. It was the judge's "pledge of public faith" which induced petitioner to enter his plea.

In <u>Butler v. State</u>, 228 So. 2d 421 (Fla.  $4^{th}$  DCA 1969), the defendant also agreed to take a polygraph test, and the parties agreed that the results of the

test, favorable or not, would be admissible at trial. The judge concurred in the agreement. Mr. Butler passed the test, and the state dropped the pending rape charge. But the state then obtained another indictment on the same charge and Mr. Butler was convicted.

The court relied on <u>State v. Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, cited the "pledge of public faith" language quoted above, rejected the state's argument that criminal prosecutions were not a game, and held that the indictment should have been quashed. Again, it was the judge's "pledge of public faith" which induced petitioner to enter his plea.

The lower tribunal relied solely on this Court's 28 year old opinion in <u>Davis</u>

v. State, supra, which had not been cited by either party's brief, and held that

petitioner was not entitled to specific performance of his plea agreement. <u>Davis</u>

is <u>not</u> controlling authority.<sup>2</sup> Ms. Davis entered her plea on condition that she

would receive probation with adjudication withheld. Between her plea and sentencing

dates, she was arrested for a new crime. The judge subsequently placed her on

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Lest there be any confusion, the appellee in *State v. Davis*, *supra*, was named Sampson Davis. The petitioner in *Davis v. State* was named Vikki Zimmerman Davis.

probation, but did not withhold adjudication.

This Court held that the judge had the alternative of allowing Ms. Davis to withdraw her plea, and Ms. Davis had the alternative of accepting the sentence as announced by the judge.

That is not the situation presented here. Petitioner did nothing adverse in the time between his acceptance of the judge's plea offer and his sentencing to cause the judge to alter the plea agreement.<sup>3</sup>

Cases subsequent to this Court's decision in <u>Davis v. State</u> have recognized specific performance as one of the possible remedies for a violation of a plea

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Judge Padovano's view, that petitioner's plea bargain with the judge was really only a "cap" of 10 years incarceration (appendix at 4-5), is equally erroneous. The word "cap" was not mentioned during the plea colloquy. Judge Padovano observed that the judge's reference to a maximum sentence of 10 years "was clear to everyone present that he was referring only to the portion of the sentence that would be served in the Department of Corrections" and "Those who work in the criminal justice system are accustomed to thinking this way... ." (Appendix at 4).

It certainly was not "clear" to petitioner and his lawyer, and petitioner and his lawyer were certainly not "thinking this way," because his lawyer immediately objected to the addition of 10 years probation when the judge announced it at sentencing.

agreement, as recommended by Justice Douglas in Santobello v. New York, supra.

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 341 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1977), the defendant entered a plea to aggravated assault before the late Judge Harry Lee Coe. Judge Coe promised to defer sentence from "'day to day and term to term,'" *Id.* at 215, if Mr. Williams assisted the police as an informant. A successor judge determined the bargain was not enforceable, set aside the plea, and Mr. Williams was convicted at trial and received a five year state prison sentence. The court reversed:

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