IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERROL AUSTIN ROLLMAN,

Petitioner,

rcionei

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 03-1871

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

KAREN ARMSTRONG ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0125342

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
<u>ISSUE I</u>
IF THE TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES ITS INTENTION TO CAP A PRISON SENTENCE AS PART OF A PLEA AGREEMENT, WHETHER PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO THE SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THAT PLEA AGREEMENT; AND WHETHER GIVEN THE PARTICULAR FACTS OF THIS CASE, THIS COURT NEED REACH THE CERTIFIED QUESTION? (Restated)
CONCLUSION
SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 18
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>PAGE(S)</u>
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Santobello v. New York</u> , 404 U.S. 257 (1971) 8,9
STATE CASES
<u>Brown v. State</u> , 245 So. 2d 41 (Fla.1971)
<u>Butler v. State</u> , 228 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969) 11
<u>Charatz v. State</u> , 577 So. 2d 1298 (Fla. 1991) 12,13
<u>Davis v. State</u> , 308 So. 2d 27 (Fla. 1975) 7,8,9,10
Franklin Life Insurance Co. v. Davy, 753 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999)
<u>Goins v. State</u> , 672 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 1996) 9,10
<pre>Gray v. State, 754 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) 14</pre>
<pre>Nelson v. State, 596 So. 2d 1272 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) . 11,12</pre>
Rollman v. State, 855 So. 2d 239 (Fla 1st DCA 2003) 2,7,15,17
<u>State v. Davis</u> , 188 So. 2d 24 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966) 10,11
<u>State v. Frazier</u> , 697 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) 14
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 341 So. 2d 214 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976) 13
<pre>Wright v. State, 599 So. 2d 767 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) 11</pre>
OTHER
Fla. R. App. P. 9.210

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Errol Austin Rollman, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of one volume, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 12, 2001, Petitioner was charged by information with robbery with a firearm. (R.5). On October 22, 2001, the trial court issued an order finding Petitioner incompetent to stand trial. (R.56-57). Petitioner was committed to the Department of Children and Families to arrange for mental health treatment. (R.59-60).

On June 12, 2002, the trial court found that based on the opinion of three mental health experts, and the representation

of counsel, Petitioner was competent to proceed to trial. (R.144-145). During this hearing, defense counsel announced that Petitioner was ready to plead to the charge in the information. (R.145).

After questioning, the trial court found that Petitioner's plea was voluntary. (R.146-152). On August 26, 2002, Petitioner was sentenced to 10 years in the Department of Corrections, to be followed by 10 years probation.

Petitioner filed an appeal of the sentence and challenged the probationary part of his sentence. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence, but certified a question of great public importance:

WHERE A TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES THE MOST SEVERE SENTENCE THAT WILL BE IMPOSED IN THE EVENT OF A PLEA, MAY THE TRIAL COURT THEREAFTER, ONCE THE PLEA HAS BEEN ACCEPTED, PRONOUNCE A MORE SEVERE SENTENCE WITHOUT ANY STATED REASON OR ANY REASON APPARENT FROM THE RECORD? IF SO, MUST THE TRIAL COURT AFFIRMATIVELY OFFER THE DEFENDANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA?

Rollman v. State, 855 So. 2d 239 (Fla 1st DCA 2003).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner plead guilty to armed robbery. Pursuant to the plea agreement, the trial court sentenced Petitioner to ten years in the Department of Corrections, to be followed by a ten year probation term. On direct appeal, Petitioner asserted that the trial court erred by sentencing him to a 10 year probation term in addition to his prison sentence. Appellant contends that he had a plea agreement with the trial court which guaranteed a 10 year sentence in prison, and that the addition of the 10 year probation term violated the agreement.

Petitioner's claim is misplaced. Although the trial court agreed to cap Petitioner's prison sentence, no other terms of the plea were agreed upon or discussed during the hearing. Nonetheless, a trial court is never bound by a plea agreement where there is no requirement that a defendant perform some act prior to sentencing. In this case, Petitioner was not required to perform some act prior to imposition of sentence, thus, the trial court is not bound by "specific performance" to the plea offer.

Even if the trial court could be bound, Petitioner is not entitled to specific performance of the plea agreement. There was not a valid, enforceable agreement because there was not a "meeting of the minds."

Under the facts of this case, there is no need for this Court to reach the certified question. It appears that defense counsel successfully lobbied the trial court at an unrecorded bench conference to cap the prison sentence at 10 years. However, the trial court was silent as to any other provisions of the sentence, including court costs and restitution. Appellant, who pled "straight up," faced any legal sentence within the discretion of the trial court. The trial court agreed to cap the prison sentence, which was done. The trial court was silent as to any other provisions, and as such, Appellant did not lose the benefit of any bargain. This Court should affirm, and decline to answer the certified question.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

IF THE TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES ITS INTENTION TO CAP A PRISON SENTENCE AS PART OF A PLEA AGREEMENT, WHETHER PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO THE SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THAT PLEA AGREEMENT; AND WHETHER GIVEN THE PARTICULAR FACTS OF THIS CASE, THIS COURT NEED REACH THE CERTIFIED OUESTION? (Restated)

Standard of Review

The standard of review for a legal question is *de novo*. "Appellate courts are not required to defer to trial judges and administrative law judges on pure issues of law. The standard of review of legal issues involve no more than a determination whether the issue was correctly decided." Section 9.4 Philip J. Padovano, FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE (2d ed. 1997).

Merits

Petitioner contends that he entered into a plea agreement with the trial court that guaranteed him a 10 year sentence in prison, and that the addition of the 10 year probation term violated the agreement. He claims that he entered the plea in exchange for a maximum sentence of 10 years mandatory minimum. In other words, he claims that he entered into an enforceable contract for a ten year prison term and is entitled to specific performance of that contract. The State disagrees.

Petitioner plead no contest "straight up" to the Court without any agreement from the State. The parties did not agree to the

sentence length or any other provisions. As the prosecutor pointed out:

Your Honor, if we could before we go forward. Also, I just want the record to reflect this is a plea straight up. There's no agreement with the state on this particular plea as far as for any cap or anything else. I don't know if the plea agreement reflects that, but that is what has come out of our discussion at the bench.

(R.146).

Petitioner did not dispute that he was pleading "straight up" or that there was absolutely no agreement on a sentence from the State. From the record, it appears that defense counsel successfully lobbied the trial court at an unrecorded bench conference to cap the prison sentence at 10 years. (R.145-146). However, the trial court was silent as to any other provisions of the sentence. There was no negotiated plea agreement. Thus, as a result of this "straight up" plea, Petitioner faced any legal sentence within the discretion of the trial court.

During the sentencing hearing, the trial court again agreed to cap Petitioner's prison sentence at 10 years. (R.162). However, there was no agreement with the State regarding this decision. During the hearing the prosecutor argued for a sentenced beyond the 10 year cap to which the Court agreed:

We strongly recommend that you give the defendant, as we said in our letter, twenty years in prison with a ten year minimum mandatory. He was the actual participant who wielded the firearm and pointed it at the victims. I would like to submit to you a letter from the Destin Bank, from Mr. Clay, the president, talking about the psychological affect that it had on employees of the bank, your Honor.

(R.158).

The trial court sentenced Petitioner to ten years in the Department of Corrections, to be followed by ten years of probation. (R.162). The court also ordered restitution in the amount of \$6,442, and standard court costs. (R.162). Defense counsel objected to the probationary and restitution part of the sentence, and argued that they had not been contemplated during the plea hearing. (R.163).

On direct appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence, but certified a question of great public importance:

WHERE A TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES THE MOST SEVERE SENTENCE THAT WILL BE IMPOSED IN THE EVENT OF A PLEA, MAY THE TRIAL COURT THEREAFTER, ONCE THE PLEA HAS BEEN ACCEPTED, PRONOUNCE A MORE SEVERE SENTENCE WITHOUT ANY STATED REASON OR ANY REASON APPARENT FROM THE RECORD? IF SO, MUST THE TRIAL COURT AFFIRMATIVELY OFFER THE DEFENDANT AN OPPORTUNITY TO WITHDRAW THE PLEA?

Rollman v. State, 855 So. 2d 239 (Fla 1st DCA 2003).

The certified question should be reworded to more appropriately address the facts of this case:

IF THE TRIAL COURT ANNOUNCES ITS INTENTION TO CAP A PRISON SENTENCE AS PART OF A PLEA AGREEMENT, WHETHER PETITIONER IS ENTITLED TO THE SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THAT PLEA AGREEMENT; AND WHETHER GIVEN THE PARTICULAR FACTS OF THIS CASE, THIS COURT NEED REACH THE CERTIFIED QUESTION? (Restated)

Based upon this Court's opinion in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 308 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1975), cited by the court below, and because of the facts of this particular case, this Court should reword the question, answer the certified question in the negative and

determine that Petitioner is not entitled to specific performance.

In <u>Davis</u>, the defendant agreed to plead guilty to drug felonies in exchange for adjudication withheld, a term of probation, and a term in county jail. 308 So.2d at 28. The amount of the jail term, between four months and a year, was dependant on the presentence investigation. <u>Id.</u> During the investigation, the defendant was arrested on another charge. At sentencing on the original charges, the trial court adjudicated Davis guilty of the charges, and placed her on probation with the condition that she serve one year in county jail. <u>Id.</u> On appeal, Davis demanded specific performance of the original plea agreement.

This Court disagreed and found that "even if the trial judge's indication of leniency is the *only* inducement a defendant has in pleading guilty, the court is not bound by it." <u>Id.</u> at 29 (emphasis in original). This Court also noted that while <u>Santobello v. New York</u>, 404 U.S. 257 (1971), requires specific performance of a promise made by the State, a plea discussion cannot be specifically enforced against a trial court. <u>Id.</u>

Davis is directly on point with the case at hand. Petitioner argues that he entered his plea based upon the promise by the trial court to cap his sentence at ten years in prison, and demands specific performance of the agreement. However, pursuant to Davis, the trial court is not bound by this agreement, even if the promise of the 10 year cap was the "only

inducement" under which Petitioner accepted the plea. Simply put, the trial court is not bound, by specific performance, to any promises of a specific sentence that it made to Petitioner in any previous plea discussion. The trial court is free to sentence Petitioner without regard to any previous promises, especially in light of the fact that Petitioner pled "straight up" to the trial court and with no agreement to any sentence by the State.

The United States Supreme Court's ruling in Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed. 427 (1971), does not alter the results in this case, as Petitioner contends. Santobello does not discuss the role of the trial court in the plea process. That case involved a specific agreement between a defendant and the prosecutor, which the prosecutor agreed to make a recommendation to the court and then reneged on that agreement. The Supreme Court remanded the case to the state court to consider the appropriate remedy required because of the prosecutor's failure to abide by the original agreement. In arriving at that conclusion, the court observed that there was, "no absolute right to have a guilty plea accepted [citation omitted]. A court may reject a plea in the exercise of sound judicial discretion." 95 S.Ct. at 498.

As this Court noted in <u>Davis</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court in <u>Santobello</u> was not talking about binding the trial court to a bargain worked out by the prosecutor and the defense. Rather, it dealt with whether the prosecutor would be bound to its part of the

deal, namely, making the recommendation that it originally agreed to make.

In Goins v. State, 672 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1996), this Court discussed the trial court's role in plea negotiations. The defendant entered into a plea agreement with the state in which he would receive 5 ½ years imprisonment followed by three years probation. Instead, the court sentenced him to nine years imprisonment followed by three years probation. The trial court did not give Goins the opportunity to withdraw his plea. The District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction because the defendant did not move to withdraw his plea. This Court quashed the opinion, holding that when the trial court declines a plea agreement it must affirmatively allow the defendant the opportunity to withdraw the plea. Goins, 672 So.2d at 32. This Court noted:

Negotiations often take place only between the state and the defendant, although in some instances the trial judge participates in the negotiations. Even though the plea has been accepted and regardless of whether the judge participated in the negotiations, the judge is never bound to honor the agreement. Davis v. State, 308 So.2d 27 (Fla.1975); Brown v. State, 245 So.2d 41 (Fla.1971).

<u>Id.</u> at 31.

In support of his argument that the trial court is bound by its agreement, Petitioner cites numerous cases where a defendant received specific performance of a plea agreement when the State reneged on that agreement. In <u>State v. Davis</u>, 188 So.2d 24 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1966), the State agreed that it would drop murder

charges against Davis if he passed a polygraph test. The polygraph examiner determined that Davis had passed the test but later changed his mind after speaking to another examiner. Davis, 188 So.2d at 26. The State decided to indict Davis on the charges, however, the trial court granted a motion to quash the indictment. On appeal, the court noted that the State agreed not to pursue charges based upon the opinion of a certain examiner that Davis was telling the truth, and the examiner had changed his mind based upon the opinion of another. Id. at 27. Thus, the court affirmed the dismissal of the charges and found that the State must be held to the letter of its agreement.

Again, in <u>Butler v. State</u>, 228 So.2d 421 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), the State agreed in open court not to prosecute Butler for rape if he passed a polygraph examine. Pursuant to the agreement, the State dropped the charges when the examiner determined that Butler was telling the truth. <u>Butler</u>, 228 So.2d at 424. However, the State later indicted Butler again on charges from the same events, and Butler was found guilty of the charges. <u>Id.</u> On appeal, the Court found that the State should have been bound by its agreement not to prosecute. <u>Id.</u>

In <u>Wright v. State</u>, 599 So.2d 767 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), Wright entered into an agreement with the State that if he waived a jury trial in favor of a bench trial on his charges of burglary and grand theft, he would receive a sentence no harsher than probation. However, after a bench trial, Wright was found to be a habitual felony offender and placed on "habitualized"

probation." Wright, 599 So.2d at 767. On appeal the court reversed the sentence and remanded the case for "imposition of straight probation as was agreed to by the state and Wright." Id.

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